1972

# Louis J. Monter v. Kratzer's Specialty Bread Company, A Corporation : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF CASE

This was an action by a landlord for unlawful detainer, and a counterclaim by his tenant for damages resulting from a temporary eviction.

### DISPOSITION OF CASE IN TRIAL COURT

The court, without a jury, entered judgment for plaintiff-appellant in the amount of \$2,166.99, and for

defendant-respondent on its counterclaim in the amount of \$102,278.56 general damages, and \$3,000.00 punitive damages.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The judgment should be reversed and remanded with directions to enter judgment for plaintiff-appellant in the amount of \$2,166.99 together with a reasonable attorney's fee, and for restitution of the premises; and to dismiss the counterclaim; or, in the alternative, remanded with directions to grant a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-Appellant, Louis J. Monter, a retired Utah businessman now living in California, owns a lot and building at 1241 Major Street, Salt Lake City. Defendant-Respondent, Kratzer's Specialty Bread Company (hereinafter called "Kratzer's") is a corporation engaged in the operation of a bakery.

On February 28, 1970, Mr. Monter and Kratzer's entered into a lease agreement by the terms of which Mr. Monter's building was let to Kratzer's for use as a bakery for five years at \$475.00 per month payable the first of each month (Exhibit 2-D). At the time the lease was entered into the corporation was managed by Elsa K. Glissmeyer, but in about April, 1970, Jerome W. Yeck took control of the corporation and there commenced a series of defaults in payment of rentals. Mr. Monter filed an

action following which, in late 1970, the rentals were brought current and a security agreement executed by Kratzer's (R. 33-34). At the same time the parties executed an addendum to the lease (Exhibit 3-D) which contained the following provision:

“Should tenant fail to pay any moneys due hereunder within forty-five (45) days after due date, landlord may at his option re-enter upon the leased premises and take possession of same and remove all persons from the leased premises, or may exercise any other remedy available to him by law resulting from the failure of the tenant to pay rent. In addition thereto landlord may, at his option, exercise all rights and remedies available to him under that certain security agreement covering the personal property and equipment upon said premises of even date herewith.”

After execution of the addendum Kratzer's paid the monthly rentals, though late, through July, 1971. It defaulted in the August, 1971, payment, and has made no rental payments since (except for a sum deposited in court in connection with this proceeding and later returned to Kratzer's).

When the August 1, 1971, payment had not been made by September 15, Mr. Monter's counsel commenced proceedings to obtain possession of the premises. A “notice to quit or pay rent” was served on Kratzer's on September 28, 1971 (R. 110). In early October, 1971, a check drawn by Donna Poulsen, a friend of Mr. Yeck's, was tendered to Mr. Monter's attorneys in payment of the August rental. Mrs. Poulsen had expected Mr. Yeck

to cover it but he did not (R. 181), and when presented to the bank for payment it was dishonored because there were insufficient funds in the account (R. 131).

The August payment (as well as the September and October payments) not having been made, on October 18, 1971, a complaint was filed in which Mr. Monter sought a writ restoring him to the premises, with the judgment to provide that he would have leave to amend his complaint after issuance of the writ of restitution in order to include a prayer for damages for waste and rent (R. 84-87). A shortened summons directing the defendant Kratzer's to answer the complaint within three days was served upon Kratzer's on October 29, 1971 (R. 84, 117), and the answer to the complaint became due on November 4, 1971.<sup>1</sup> No answer was filed, and on November 5, a default (R. 81) and a default judgment (R. 73) were entered, the judgment directing issuance of a writ of restitution (R. 73).

On November 8, 1971, three days after entry of the judgment, writs of attachment (R. 65) and restitution (R. 43) were served upon Kratzer's. Pursuant to the writ of restitution, the sheriff entered the premises and took possession. On the same day, a short time prior to execution on the writ, Kratzer's attorney called to the attention of Mr. Monter's attorney the provisions of 78-36-10 U.C.A. 1953, claiming that Mr. Monter was not entitled to return of the premises until five days after entry of judgment. The sheriff nevertheless proceeded

---

<sup>1</sup>If the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply, the answer became due on November 1, 1971.

with execution of the writ of restitution and the bakery was closed about 2:00 o'clock p.m. After some discussions, Mr. Monter's attorneys voluntarily released the premises about 4:00 o'clock p.m., and the bakery was reopened and the employees back at work by approximately 5:30 o'clock p.m. (R. 150).

In the meantime, on Friday, November 5, after the default judgment had been entered, an answer was mailed to the plaintiff's attorneys (R. 80). A motion to set aside the default was mailed to Mr. Monter's attorneys on November 10 and filed with the court on November 12 (R. 77). On November 19 an order was entered setting aside the default (R. 69) and permitting Kratzer's to file a counterclaim seeking \$5,000.00 for lost business and \$5,000.00 punitive damages (R. 62-64). Trial was set for December 10, 1971, approximately three weeks after the default was set aside.

At the trial it was established that there was not any genuine issue of fact as to the amount of the rentals owed by Kratzer's, the amount included in the judgment being the exact amount claimed by Mr. Monter's counsel during his opening statement (R. 39, 41, 118).

It was established that Mr. Yeck had been the manager of Kratzer's for about 11½ years (R. 158) and that under his and prior management Kratzer's had sold bakery products to Continental Baking Company for approximately 16 years (R. 152).

Jack Hart, the bread sales manager for Continental Baking, testified that his company had been a customer

of Kratzer's during the five years of his employment (R. 120). On November 8, because of the inability of some of the employees of Continental to reach Kratzer's by telephone, he went to the bakery building and found it locked (R. 124, 125), and thereupon decided to transfer orders for the following day to another company (R. 125). After he had made this decision Mr. Yeck, Kratzer's managing officer, called and asked for a return of the business but this was refused because Mr. Hart didn't feel that he had any assurance of getting products from Kratzer's (R. 125). Continental had had previous difficulty with Kratzer's. About two or three weeks earlier there had been a problem arising out of the fact that Continental could not get products and had quality problems with products it did obtain (R. 126). There had been numerous occasions in the past where a product furnished by Kratzer's had been stale, and Continental had received complaints from its customers about Kratzer's products as far back as a year (R. 127). The number of complaints would vary from week to week, but Mr. Hart said he would not have terminated the contract "then" except for inability to place the order on November 8 (R. 128). At the time of the trial he did not intend to give Kratzer's further orders (R. 129), and testified that the prior difficulties had entered into his decision to withdraw business from Kratzer's (R. 129).

Mr. Yeck testified that Kratzer's was able to produce the next day's product (R. 151), but that Kratzer's had received no business from Continental since November 8. The counterclaim was based entirely on loss of the Continental account.

At the trial it was stipulated that Kratzer's received an average gross income from its Continental Baking account in the amount of \$2,000.00 a month, and that of this 53% or \$1,060.00 would go towards profit (R. 153-154). No evidence was introduced as to the length of time the Continental account might have been expected to continue, or as to the length of time it would take Kratzer's to mitigate its damages by obtaining other customers. At the trial the attorney for Kratzer's suggested to the court that the length of time in the future was probably "a legal question" (R. 154).

On this evidence the trial court found that the actions of Mr. Monter (though he was in California throughout the proceedings and did not personally participate in the actions complained of except through counsel) were intentional and malicious and resulted in the loss of the Continental Baking Company account; that Kratzer's would have received \$1,060.00 per month as profit from the Continental Baking Company account "indefinitely into the future"; and that the present value of \$1,060.00 per month for ten years was \$102,278.56 (R. 40-41). The court entered judgment in favor of Mr. Monter for his rentals of \$997.49 and damages of \$1,169.20; and it entered judgment on Kratzer's counterclaim in the amount of \$102,278.56 for loss of business and \$3,000.00 punitive damages, or a total \$105,278.56.

The \$1,425.00 deposited in court by Kratzer's was ordered returned to it, and the judgment provided that payments due under the lease agreement between Mr.

Monter and Kratzer's for the month of December, 1971, and subsequent months, should be paid by deduction from Kratzer's unpaid judgment. The net result was confiscation of Mr. Monter's property.

Shortly after the trial, Mr. Monter's counsel learned that, notwithstanding representations and suggestions to the court that the Continental Baking business would likely continue into the indefinite future, Kratzer's was and had been in serious financial difficulties. It was discovered that on January 10, 1972, one month after the trial, the United States Internal Revenue Service filed a Notice of Federal Tax Lien in the amount of \$18,793.52 (R. 30) for taxes due as early as March, 1971, which subsequently resulted in the sale of Kratzer's bakery equipment and other property on the leased premises. It was also discovered that there were in existence against Kratzer's at the time of trial, approximately 12 unsatisfied judgments, totaling approximately \$14,000.00. These matters were called to the attention of the court in a motion for new trial filed on January 13, 1972 (R. 22), but after argument, and a request on the record that the court take judicial notice of the judgments, the court denied the motion and permitted the judgment to stand. This appeal resulted.

## ARGUMENT

### I

*The court erred in holding that eviction of defendant-respondent violated stay provisions of 78-36-10 Utah Code Annotated 1953.*

The trial court interpreted 78-36-10 U.C.A. 1953 as providing for an automatic 5-day stay of execution, and held that eviction of Kratzer's pursuant to the writ of restitution was a willful and malicious wrong on the part of Mr. Monter. The section provides, in part:

*If upon the trial the verdict of the jury, or if the case is tried without a jury, the finding of the court, is in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant, judgment shall be entered for the restitution of the premises. The jury, or the court if the proceeding is tried without a jury, shall also assess the damages \* \* \* and any amount found due the plaintiff by reason of waste of the premises by the defendant during the tenancy alleged in the complaint and proved on the trial, and find the amount of any rent due if the alleged unlawful detainer is after default in the payment of rent; and the judgment shall be rendered against the defendant guilty of forcible entry \* \* \* for the rent and for the three times the amount of the damages thus assessed. When the proceeding is for an unlawful detainer after default in the payment of rent, and the lease or agreement under which the rent is payable has not by its terms expired, execution upon the judgment shall not be issued until the expiration of five days after the entry of the judgment, within which time the defendant tenant or any sub-tenant, or any mort-*

gagee of the term, or other party interested in its continuance, may pay into court for the landlord the amount of the judgment and costs, and thereupon the judgment shall be satisfied, and the tenant shall be restored to his estate; but if payment as herein provided is not made within five days, the judgment may be enforced for the full amount, and for the possession of the premises. In all other cases, the judgment may be enforced immediately. (Emphasis added.)

Even a cursory reading suggests that 78-36-10 deals only with *trials*, and that the stay provision applies where there is a genuine issue as to the amount of rent due, and a *trial* of that issue. The legislative history of the forcible entry and detainer statute makes it clear that if there is no such issue, or if there is no trial, the defendant tenant can be evicted immediately upon entry of the judgment.

The statute was enacted before statehood as Chapter IV, Laws of Utah 1884, "Summary Proceedings for Obtaining Possession of Real Property in Certain Cases." As originally enacted, it consisted of 18 sections, 1033 to 1051. The first nine sections defined forcible entry and unlawful detainer; provided for notices; circumscribed the jurisdiction of the courts; limited the persons who needed to be made parties; set out the requirements for the complaint and summons; and provided for arrest in some cases. Commencing with Section 1043, the statute dealt with default and with trials. Section 1043 provided:

"If at the time appointed, the defendants do not appear and defend, the court must enter his de-

fault and render judgment in favor of the plaintiff as prayed for in the complaint.”

Section 1044 provided that the defendant might appear and answer or demur. Section 1045 provided:

“Whenever an issue of fact is presented by the pleadings, it must be tried by a jury, unless such jury be waived as in other cases. The jury shall be formed in the same manner as other trial juries in the court in which the action is pending.”

Section 1046 set out what the plaintiff was required to show *on the trial*. Section 1047 provided for amendment of the complaint if *upon the trial* the evidence established a forcible entry or detainer other than that pleaded the one charged. Section 1048, substantially the same as the present 78-36-10, set out the remedies and the procedures. Then, as now, the entire section was preceded by the words *if upon the trial*. The last three sections related to verification of pleadings, stays on appeal, and the applicability of the provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure relative to civil actions, appeals and new trials.

In 1898, following admission of Utah to statehood, it became necessary to re-enact provisions of the Utah statutes. The forcible entry and detainer statute appeared as Title 73, Chapter 64, Revised Statutes of Utah 1898. It continued in substantially the same form, except that the provisions relating to answers and demurrers, arrest, and entry of default were omitted. The omissions, however, can hardly show an intention to change the meaning of the retained sections inasmuch as the chapter was part of the Code of Civil Procedure and generally

subject to its provisions under §3587 R.S.U. 1898. Permissible pleadings were governed by §2958, and defaults for failure to answer were dealt with in §3179. The amendments indicated a legislative intent to utilize general provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, not to give defendants greater rights in event of default.

To draw a distinction between default judgments and those entered after trials of issues relating to rent due makes eminent good sense. To apply the section's stay provisions to trials protects those tenants who have a genuine question as to the amount of rent they owe. They are permitted to litigate the matter without risking immediate loss of the leasehold in event the triers of fact determine the issue against them. Without such a provision, tenants would be tempted to pay whatever amount was demanded by the landlord for fear that the trial might result in an adverse verdict or finding, and that even though they were contesting the rental claim in good faith they would have the estate forfeited without the opportunity to pay the amount found to be due. This view of the statute seems to have been adopted by this court in *Commercial Block Realty Co. v. Merchants Protective Assn.*, 71 Utah 505, 267 Pac. 1009 (1928), which discussed the remedies provided by the section and indicated that where the amount of rent is "in dispute" the tenant may await the judicial determination of the amount and after judgment pay it and costs and be restored to his estate.

Inasmuch as the section refers to "trial," the meaning of that word is of some importance.

A default judgment is not a trial.

In *Farrell v. DeClue et al.* 365 S.W.2d 68 (Mo. App. 1963), the Missouri Court of Appeals in considering the question of what amounted to granting a “new trial” had occasion to discuss what was meant by trial. Referring to an earlier case, the court said:

“The court construed the word ‘trial’ to mean a formal examination of contested issues before a competent tribunal in which both parties are present and participate, and said that ‘A mere inquiry of damages after a judgment by default is not a “trial,” within the meaning of the statute.’ They quoted with approval Black’s definition of a ‘new trial’ as ‘a re-examination, in the same court, of an issue of fact, or some part or portion thereof, after a verdict by a jury, report of a referee, or a decision by a court.’”

With respect to defaults, a similar position was taken by the appellate court of Indiana in *Greenwell v. Cunningham, et al.* 70 N.E.2d 684 (1948) the court said:

“It has long been settled in this state that a final judgment entered on a failure of a party to appear does not involve a trial within the meaning of the statute providing for new trials through timely motion.”

The arrangement of the 1884 statute and the emphasis on trial demonstrate a legislative intent not to grant the “stay” privilege in default cases. Changes in other sections of the statute do not show an intent to change the meaning of present 78-36-10. The presumption is that the original meaning continues.

In *Tyson v. United States*, 285 F.2d 19 (10 Cir. 1960), the Court of Appeals was called upon to construe the meaning of words in an act of 1951, particularly whether the words "by law made current" referred to coins made current by the laws of the United States or by a foreign government. The Court of Appeals examined the original statute of 1806 and found that the term referred to coins made current by the laws of the United States. It rejected the contention that a reenactment of the statute in 1951 changed the meaning of the phrase. The court said:

"A general rule of construction is that provisions of an original act or section reenacted or substantially repeated in an amendment are construed as a continuation of the original law. Such provisions are generally held to have been the law since they were first enacted."

Re-enactment of the section in 1898 and subsequently should be construed as a continuation of the meaning in the original statute, and the section should not be construed as applying to judgments entered after a default by the tenant.

Moreover, 78-36-10 provides for a stay only where the unlawful detainer action is based solely on the non-payment of rent. There is to be no stay if the lease has "by its terms expired," or if the action is based upon waste or breach of covenants relating to matters other than rent. The section provides that "In all other cases [than simple non-payment of rent], the judgment may be enforced immediately."

In the present case the complaint was based on waste as well as failure to pay rent; in addition, the lease contained a provision permitting termination of the tenant's rights and repossession for failure to pay rent. In either such case a tenant is not entitled to a stay.

## II

*A stay of execution must be obtained in the manner provided by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.*

Even if the portion of Section 78-36-10 which provides for a stay of execution is deemed to apply to the facts in this case, such a stay is not automatic.

Rule 62(a), U.R.C.P., provides:

Execution or other proceedings to enforce a judgment may issue immediately upon the entry of the judgment, unless the court in its discretion and on such conditions for the security of the adverse party as are proper, otherwise directs.

The Rules of Civil Procedure govern the procedures in all actions, suits and proceedings "of a civil nature" (Rule 1, U.R.C.P.), and all "special statutory proceedings" except insofar as they are "by their nature clearly inapplicable" (Rule 81, U.R.C.P.).

Admittedly the rules may not abridge, enlarge or modify substantive rights (78-2-4 U.C.A. 1953), but assuming that a stay of execution in an unlawful detainer action for the nonpayment of rent is interpreted to be a substantive right, a rule of procedure may establish how

that right is to be exercised without thereby abridging, enlarging or modifying it.

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