1972

Louis J. Monter v. Kratzer's Specialty Bread Company, A Corporation : Respondents Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The court properly held that the eviction of Defendant-Respondent and closure of its business was wrongful and in violation of the provisions of Section 78-36-10 U.C.A. The judgment was invalid and execution on it was untimely.

The pertinent provisions of Forcible Entry and Detainer statute define unlawful detainer (§ 78-36-3), prescribe the manner of service (§ 78-36-6), set out the allegations required in the Complaint (§ 78-36-8), and describe the matters for which judgment may be taken and when it may be enforced (§ 78-36-10). The following language from these provisions is important to a determination of the propriety of MONTER's actions in this case:

“78-36-8. Allegations permitted in complaint In case the unlawful detainer charged is after default in the payment of rent, the complaint *must* state the amount of such rent. . . .” (emphasis added).

“78-36-10. Judgment — of restitution; for damages and rent. . . . When the proceeding is for an unlawful detainer *after default in the payment of the rent, and the lease or agreement under which the rent is payable has not*

by its terms expired, execution upon the judgment shall not be issued until the expiration of five days after the entry of the judgment, within which time the tenant or any sub-tenant, or any mortgagee of the term, or other party interested in its continuance, may pay into court for the landlord the amount of the judgment and costs, and thereupon the judgment shall be satisfied, and the tenant shall be restored to his estate; but if payment as herein provided is not made within the five days, the judgment may be enforced for its full amount, and for the possession of the premises. In all other cases the judgment may be enforced immediately." (emphasis added)

It should be noted that **MONTER** failed to comply with these provisions from the time his Complaint was filed, the result of which was to deny **KRATZER'S** right to pay rent into court and be restored to its estate. The Complaint did not ask for any judgment for rent, but only for restitution and for leave to amend following restitution to pray for rent lost and for waste. This was done in spite of the statutory requirement that the Complaint *must* state the amount of rent in default. The unlawful detainer claimed by **MONTER** was after an alleged default in the payment of rent and the proceeding was brought specifically for failure to pay that rent, and for no other reason, as appears from the "Three Day Notice to Pay Rent or Va-

cate" (R. 51) served upon KRATZER'S. This notice states that action would be commenced ". . . to take judgment against you for the rent accrued . . ." This notice must be the basis of any unlawful detainer proceeding brought by MONTER and any proceeding for waste or breach of covenants would be improper. It should also be noted that MONTER made no attempt to prove any waste or breach of covenant at the trial, but only non-payment of rent. Since the alleged unlawful detainer was based solely upon non-payment of rent, it was wholly improper for Monter to ask only for restitution in his Complaint and not for a judgment for unpaid rent. The effect of this is to deprive the tenant of the substantive right, granted by the statute, to pay the rent into court and be restored to his estate. Based upon this fact alone, the judgment for restitution was invalid. *Voyles v. Straka*, 77 Utah 171, 292 Pac. 913, at 914 (1930). Therefore, any action taken on that judgment was wrongful.

Having obtained an improper judgment, however, MONTER failed again to comply with the statute when he attempted to enforce his judgment for restitution by causing a Writ of Restitution to be issued on Friday, November 5, 1971, the same day judgment was entered, and then causing the Sheriff to wrongfully evict KRATZER'S from the premises and close down KRATZER'S business on Monday, November 8, 1971. Section 78-36-10 U.C.A. requires execution upon a judgment to wait five days after entry of the judgment "when the proceeding is for unlawful detainer

after default in the payment of rent, and the lease . . . has not by its terms expired." This was precisely the case before the court. KRATZER'S had a long-term lease which had more than three years to run. It is perhaps important to note that this five-day waiting period does not apply to the majority of unlawful detainer cases which are brought for holding over after termination of month-to-month tenancies, tenancies-at-will or expired leases. This important statutory right to be restored to the estate is given only to those who have a substantial investment in a longterm lease and perhaps related leasehold improvements, trade fixtures and equipment.

A landlord may not repossess his property without resorting to the remedies provided in the Forcible Entry and Detainer statute, regardless of his legal right to the property, and the failure to follow the provisions of the statute gives the tenant a cause of action for the invasion of his rights under the statute and he should be awarded any damages proved. *King v. Firm*, 3 Utah 2d 419, 285 P.2d 1114 (1955). The facts in the case now before the court are almost identical to those in the case of *Freeway Park Building, Inc. v. Western States Wholesale Supply*, 22 Utah 2d 266, 451 P.2d 778 (1969). In that case an action was commenced to collect past due rentals under a long-term written lease. A Writ of Attachment was obtained and the attorney for the landlord accompanied the officer executing the Writ and directed him to attach the inventory and to remove the tenant's employees and change the locks on all

of the doors. The tenant counterclaimed for wrongful attachment and wrongful eviction. The court held that, even if the attachment was lawful, the eviction was unlawful for failure to follow the requirements of the unlawful detainer statute and the landlord was liable for such damages as it caused including possible punitive damages. That case governs the instant case and the eviction of KRATZER'S by MONTER was accordingly wrongful and in violation of the rights of tenants granted by § 78-36-10 U.C.A.

The foregoing conclusion applies whether judgment is taken by default or after a trial. The attempt by appellant in his Brief to apply the five-day waiting period in § 78-36-10 only to judgments after a trial and not to default judgments is strained and far-fetched. A tenant should not be deprived of a substantive right expressly granted by statute by strained implication from former statutes. There is certainly no express indication in the former or present statute, nor any suggestion, that default judgments were to be treated differently than judgments upon a trial. In fact, it is just as reasonable to imply that the failure to re-enact the old provision with respect to default judgments was for the purpose of bringing all judgments, default and otherwise, under § 78-36-10. The heading of that section is not entitled "Trials" or anything similar. It is entitled "Judgments." And no other section deals with defaults. The particular provision containing the five-day waiting period is not limited by the necessity for a trial. It is only qualified by the words "When the proceeding is

for an unlawful detainer after default in the payment of the rent, and the lease or agreement under which the rent is payable has not by its terms expired." Neither the original nor the present statute has been construed in the manner appellant is now suggesting. The right granted by § 78-36-10 is a matter of importance and if it did not apply in certain cases one would expect the legislature to expressly say so.

Furthermore, why could not a tenant decide, in the interest of saving time, trouble and expense, to give up his right to contest the disputed amount of rent, allow a default to be entered and then tender the rent into court and be restored to his estate as the statute provides. Moreover, the statute grants the same right to pay the rent into court during the five-day waiting period to "any sub-tenant, or any mortgagee of the term, or other party interested in (the lease's) continuance." These are parties who might not be, and probably are not, parties to the action and they should not be deprived of their statutory right because judgment is taken by default. The suggested distinction between defaults and trials does not make sense when viewed in this light. The only reasonable interpretation is that the five-day waiting period applies to all judgments based on default in rent due under unexpired leases.

Appellant's reliance on *Commercial Block Realty Co. v. Merchants' Protective Ass'n*, 71 Utah 505, 267 Pac 1009 (1928), appears to be misplaced. There the court is emphasizing the fact that the statute was designed to provide the tenant with safeguards. The case

states that even if the tenant fails to tender the rent to the landlord, "he is not deprived of his lease. He may await the judicial determination of the amount of rent, and after judgment pay the rent and costs and be restored to his estate." The court does not suggest that the tenant must dispute the amount of rent or that a triable issue must be involved. Rather, it indicates that the tenant may wait until after judgment to pay the rent and costs.

Again, the suggestion of appellant that the statute doesn't apply in this case is untenable in view of the fact that no judgment for rent was sought. The Complaint asked only for restitution and did not yet bring the matter of rent before the court. KRATZER'S protected its position anyway by tendering \$1,425.00 into court within the five-day period. This amount represented the rent claimed to be in default and also rent for additional months which was not yet delinquent. However sincerely appellant now urges a different interpretation, he was apparently convinced of the wrongfulness of his actions on November 8, 1971, when he decided to allow KRATZER'S back in the premises. Of course, the damage had already been done by then, but after the warning issued by KRATZER'S attorney and a full afternoon to consider the matter, appellant and his attorneys obviously realized that KRATZER'S rights had been violated and damages might result. Otherwise, there would have been no reason to allow KRATZER'S back in the premises.

II.

The Forcible Entry and Detainer statute is a special statutory proceeding and the Rules of Civil Procedure covering execution do not apply in this case.

Section 78-36-10 U.C.A. grants to a tenant a substantive right to pay a judgment for rent and be restored to his estate under an unexpired lease. That section sets forth the time after which execution may issue. The required five-day waiting period is automatic and requires no action by the tenant to make it effective. The argument by appellant that Rule 62(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure supercedes or replaces the tenant's rights under § 78-36-10 flies in the face of the express conditions as to applicability of the rules. Rule 81 provides as follows:

**“APPLICABILITY OF RULES
IN GENERAL**

(a) Special Statutory Proceedings. These rules shall apply to all special statutory proceedings, *except* insofar as such rules are by their nature clearly inapplicable. . . .” (emphasis added)

It would appear that no rule could be more clearly inapplicable to proceedings upon execution under §78-36-10 than Rule 62(a) providing for immediate execution upon a judgment. Unlawful detainer is a special

statutory proceeding providing particular rights and remedies and prescribing the means of enforcing them. Where the Rules of Civil Procedure are in conflict with this statute, the Rules do not apply. The Rules are clearly inapplicable where they deprive a tenant of a substantive right granted by statute. Appellant might just as well argue that the manner of service of unlawful detainer notices prescribed by § 78-36-6, or that the shortening of the time for appearance to three days prescribed by § 78-36-8, or that the ten-day time for appeal prescribed by § 78-36-11, do not apply in unlawful detainer proceedings because the Rules of Civil Procedure provide a different manner or time for these matters. The Forcible Entry and Detainer statute is obviously a special statutory proceeding to which the Rules of Civil Procedure are in many respects clearly inapplicable.

Even if the Forcible Entry and Detainer statute is not a special statutory proceeding, the Rules of Civil Procedure "may not abridge, enlarge or modify the substantive rights of any litigant." § 78-2-4 U.C.A. In this case, the legislature has prescribed that a tenant has a right to be restored to his estate and the procedural rules cannot abridge or modify that right. Only the legislature can do so. Appellant argues that requiring a court order for a stay of execution is not clearly inapplicable, citing as authority the fact that the California statute, upon which Utah's statute was based, has been amended to do exactly that (Appellant's Brief, p. 16). The point is that Utah's statute has *not*

been amended and only the legislature can do so. Therefore, in Utah, the automatic five-day waiting period is still the law.

Appellant claims that a rule requiring an affirmative act by the party seeking a stay of execution would not abridge, modify or enlarge his right to such a stay. In doing so, he overlooks the fact that § 78-36-10 was designed to prevent an immediate execution and that it may take the losing party more than five days to obtain a stay of execution, especially if he must prepare and file a motion for a stay and set it for hearing before the court. By that time, the five-day period will have expired and the motion for a stay is a useless gesture. Furthermore, Rule 62(a) leaves the granting of a stay within the discretion of the court and upon such security as the court may require. This is in direct conflict with § 78-36-10, which makes the stay automatic, not discretionary, and requires no security to obtain the stay. In fact, the payment of the rent and costs into court within the five days is all the security the landlord needs. It should not be necessary to state that if the judgment for restitution is taken by default or if another party interested in the continuance of the lease, but not a party to the action, desires to pay the rent into court to preserve the lease, the execution will have been served and the damages done before it is known that a judgment has been entered. This is precisely what happened in the case now before the court. The appellant's interpretation therefore emasculates

the rights of the tenant and other parties as granted by the legislature.

III.

The damages found by the Court were proper and were supported by the evidence and stipulations of the parties.

The Court's findings as to the fact that damage had been caused to KRATZER'S by the wrongful actions of MONTER and as to the amount of those damages were fully supported by the evidence. In fact, the evidence was almost wholly in favor of the findings and it is difficult to see how the Court could have found otherwise. Of course, the findings of the Court are presumed to be correct and should not be disturbed if there is some support in the evidence. These are cardinal rules of review. *Charlton v. Hackett*, 11 Utah 2d 389, 360 P.2d 176 (1961).

The fact of damage was proved by the testimony of an impartial witness (R. 123 and 129) and there was no evidence introduced by MONTER to contradict his testimony. It was first established that Continental Baking Company had been a customer of KRATZER'S for seventeen years—a long-standing and obviously compatible and continuing relationship. Then Mr. Jack Hart, the Bread Sales Manager of Continental, testified that Continental's salesmen had been unable to reach KRATZER'S by telephone on November 8, 1971, to place orders for the next day, so he person-

ally went down to KRATZER'S place of business to determine the reason. After finding the bakery locked and closed up and nobody on the premises, he returned and placed their orders with another bakery. Continental has since refused to do further business with KRATZER'S because Mr. Hart felt he had no assurance that he could continue to get products from KRATZER'S in view of MONTER's actions. Although Continental had experienced some quality and delivery problems with KRATZER'S, Mr. Hart testified that these were considered normal and typical of other bakers as well. Then Mr. Hart responded to questions as follows:

“Q In spite of those other problems you have mentioned, was your inability to get products on November the 8th the reason for your termination of your business with KRATZER'S?

“A Yes, I'd say so.

“Q Would it be fair to say that you would not have terminated that relationship then except for that inability?

“A Yes.” (R. 128)

On cross-examination, Mr. Hart further responded as follows:

“Q Had this incident on November the 8th been the only incident to occur in your ex-

perience, would you have terminated the account?

“A I think, under the conditions that existed that day, yes.” (R. 129)

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